Matti Joensuu

Job control as a predictor of mental and cardiovascular health: a prospective multicohort study





People and Work Research Reports 106

People and Work

Academy of Finland and the Finnish Work Environment Fund have financially supported this thesis.

Editor in chief	Harri Vainio
Scientific editors	Irja Kandolin Timo Kauppinen Kari Kurppa Anneli Leppänen Hannu Rintamäki Riitta Sauni
Editor Address	Virve Mertanen Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Arinatie 3 FI-00370 Helsinki Tel. +358-30 4741 www.ttl.fi

Layout Mari Pakarinen / Juvenes Print Cover picture Ugmedia

ISBN978-952-261-495-7(paperback)ISBN978-952-261-496-4(PDF)ISSN-L1237-61831237-6183

Press Suomen Yliopistopaino Oy – Juvenes Print, Tampere 2014

Job control as a predictor of mental and cardiovascular health: a prospective multicohort study

Matti Joensuu

People and Work Research Reports 106

Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Helsinki 2014

DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Institute of Behavioural Sciences Faculty of Behavioural Sciences University of Helsinki, Finland

Supervisors:	Adjunct professor Ari Väänänen, PhD Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Helsinki, Finland
	Professor Mika Kivimäki, PhD University of Helsinki and Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Helsinki, Finland
Reviewers:	Professor Emeritus Antti Uutela, PhD National Institute for Health and Welfare Helsinki, Finland
	Adjunct professor, Tarja Heponiemi, PhD National Institute for Health and Welfare Helsinki, Finland
Opponent:	Professor Taru Feldt, PhD University of Jyväskylä Jyväskylä, Finland

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	5
TIIVISTELMÄ	7
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	9
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	10
ABBREVIATIONS	12
1 INTRODUCTION 1.1 The concept of job control 1.1.1 Theories incorporating the job control concept 1.1.2 The measurement and different	13 13 14
operationalizations of job control 1.2 Previous research on job control and mental health 1.3 Previous research on job control and cardiovascular	16 17
health 1.4 Hypothesised pathways from job control to mental	21
disorders and cardiovascular disease 1.5 Gaps in knowledge	21 23
2 THE PRESENT STUDY	24
 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS. 3.1 Materials and procedures. 3.2 Measures. 3.2.1 Predictors . 3.2.2 Outcomes . 3.2.3 Covariates. 3.3 Statistical analyses . 	26 26 28 28 29 32 32
4 RESULTS	37
 4.1 Associations between decision authority, skill discretion and mental health	37
4.2 Associations of decision authority and Skill discretion with all-cause and cause-specific mortality	39

CONTENTS

	4.3	Job control and cardio-vascular mortality in a	44
	4.4	Hospital ward overcrowding as an instrument	
		between job demands, job control and mental health	45
5	DISC	USSION	47
	5.1	Main findings	47
	5.2	Comparison of the findings with previous studies	47
	5.3	Interpretation of the findings	48
	5.4	Strengths and limitations	52
		5.4.1 Study designs	52
		5.4.2 Assessment of exposures	53
		5.4.3 Ascertainment of disease endpoints	54
		5.4.4 Control for confounders	55
	5.5	Implications and directions for future research	56
R	EFERE	NCES	58
0	RIGIN	IAL PUBLICATIONS	67

ABSTRACT

Job control has been a key concept in research on the psychosocial work environment and employee health for decades. A general hypothesis is that the more job control employees have, the lower their risk of stressrelated diseases. However, the evidence to date has been inconclusive. The two components of job control, skill discretion and decision authority, may be differentially associated with health, which is a possible explanation for previous mixed findings. Therefore, this study examined the longitudinal associations of job control and its components separately, along with mental health and incident cardiovascular disease.

The samples used were the Still Working study (N=13 868), the Finnish Public Sector Study (N=60 202) and the Individual-Participant Data Meta-analysis in the Working Populations consortium (N=197 473). Survey responses to job control scales were linked to information on sickness absences and hospitalizations due to psychiatric disorders and hospitalizations and mortality from cardiovascular diseases derived from national registers for initially healthy employees. The follow-up period ranged from one year for sickness absence to 20 years for mortality. The data were analyzed using Cox proportional hazard models, probit regression and random-effects meta-analysis. Employees from hospital wards were linked to information on hospital ward overcrowding in an instrumental variable regression analysis of an external measure for job control.

Skill discretion and decision authority showed different, to some extent opposite and subgroup specific associations with mental and cardiovascular health. In several analyses a high decision authority was associated with an increased risk of future mental or cardiovascular ill health. In the Still Working cohort study, the adjusted hazard ratio for cardiovascular mortality was 1.47 (95% confidence interval, CI, 1.12, 1.93) for high decision authority and 1.01 (95% CI 0.76, 1.34) for high

skill discretion. Job control as a combined construct was not associated with incident cardiovascular disease in the meta-analysis of prospective studies when adjusted for age, sex and socio-economic status (hazard ratio 0.95, 95% CI 0.75–1.19 for highest quartile vs. lowest quartile). In the instrumental variable regression hospital ward overcrowding did not function as an external indicator for job control.

Job control appears to be an equivocal concept in terms of health risk as its components were differently associated with health outcomes. These findings suggest that decision authority and skill discretion need to be separated and different work contexts should be differentiated in studies on job control, mental health and cardiovascular diseases.

TIIVISTELMÄ

Työn hallinta on ollut olennainen käsite psykososiaalisen työympäristön ja terveyden välisten yhteyksien tutkimuksessa vuosikymmenien ajan. Yleinen hypoteesi on, mitä suuremmat työn hallinnan mahdollisuudet, sitä pienempi on työntekijän riski sairastua stressiperäisiin sairauksiin. Tutkimustulokset yhteydestä eivät kuitenkaan yksiselitteisesti tue tätä hypoteesia. Työn hallinnan kaksi ulottuvuutta, työn monipuolisuus ja päätäntävalta työssä, voivat olla eri tavalla yhteydessä terveyteen, mikä selittäisi aiempia, osin ristiriitaisia tuloksia. Näin ollen tämä pitkittäistutkimus tarkasteli työn hallinnan, ja erikseen sen osatekijöiden, yhteyksiä tuleviin mielenterveysongelmiin ja sydäntauteihin.

Aineistoina käytettiin Yhä töissä -seurantatutkimusta (N = 13 868), kuntasektorin henkilöstön seurantatutkimusta (N = 60 202) ja Individual-Participant Data Meta-analysis in Working Populations -tutkimuskonsortiota (N = 197 473). Seurannan alussa terveiden työntekijöiden kyselyvastaukset työn hallinnasta yhdistettiin kansallisiin rekisteritietoihin, jotka koskevat mielenterveyden häiriöistä aiheutuvia sairauspoissaoloja ja sairaalajaksoja sekä sydäntautien aiheuttamia sairaalajaksoja ja kuolemia. Seuranta-ajat vaihtelivat sairauspoissaolojen vuoden seurannasta 20 vuotta kestäneeseen kuolleisuuden seurantaan. Analyyseina käytettiin Coxin verrannollisten riskitiheyksien mallia, probit regressiota sekä satunnaisvaikutusten meta-analyysiä. Tiedot sairaalaosastojen työntekijöistä yhdistettiin tietoihin osastojen täyttöasteista, jota käytettiin instrumentaalisessa regressioanalyysissä todentamaan työn hallinta ulkoisella tietolähteellä.

Työn monipuolisuus ja päätäntävalta työssä olivat eri tavoin yhteydessä mielenterveyden häiriöihin ja sydäntauteihin. Joissain analyyseissä yhteydet olivat erisuuntaisia tai tulivat esiin vain joissain alaryhmissä. Suuri päätäntävalta työssä oli useassa eri analyysissa yhteydessä kohonneeseen tulevan mielenterveyden häiriön tai sydäntaudin riskiin. Yhä töissä -aineistossa suuren päätäntävallan vakioitu riskisuhde sydänkuolemille oli 1,47 (95 % luottamusväli, 1,12; 1,93) ja suuren työn monipuolisuuden 1,01 (95 % luottamusväli 0,76; 1,34). Työn hallinta ei ollut yhteydessä sydäntautien riskiin prospektiivisten tutkimusten meta-analyysissa; ikä, sukupuoli ja sosioekonominen asema vakioitu riskisuhde 0,95 (95 % luottamusväli 0,75; 1,19). Sairaalaosastojen täyttöaste ei toiminut työn hallinnan ulkoisena mittarina. Työn hallinta ei vaikuta olevan yksiselitteinen terveysriski, sillä sen osatekijät olivat eri tavoin yhteydessä tulevaan terveyteen. Tulokset viittaavat siihen, että työn monipuolisuutta ja päätäntävaltaa työssä tulisi tarkastella itsenäisesti ja eri työkontekstit tulisi erottaa toisistaan tulevissa työn hallinnan, mielenterveyden ja svdäntautien tutkimuksissa.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to thank many parties that have made this thesis possible. This study was carried out in the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health. Academy of Finland and the Finnish Work Environment Fund have financially supported different phases of the research projects on which this thesis is based. This work was supervised by professor Mika Kivimäki and adjunct professor Ari Väänänen. Aki Koskinen, Anne Kouvonen Laura Pulkki-Råback, Marianna Virtanen, Jussi Vahtera, Jaana Pentti, Tuula Oksanen, Paula Salo, Solja Nyberg, Marko Elovainio and numerous international colleagues have been my co-authors in the articles of this thesis. Adjunct professor Tarja Heponiemi and professor emeritus Antti Uutela have been the reviewers of this thesis. Kirsi Ahola, Anneli Leppänen, Jenni Ervasti, Pauliina Mattila-Holappa, Sirkku Kivistö, Pekka Huuhtanen and Kari Lindström and many other current and former colleagues in the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health have helped me along the way. I wish to express my gratitude and thank you all.

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the five original publications listed below. The original articles are referred to in the text with Roman numerals (I–V). The original articles have been republished in this thesis with the permission of Elsevier B.V (I, IV), Oxford University Press (II, V), and BMJ publishing group ltd (III).

- I Joensuu M, Väänänen A, Koskinen A, Kivimäki M, Virtanen M, Vahtera J. Psychosocial work environment and hospital admissions due to mental disorders: a 15-year prospective study of industrial employees. J Affect Disord. 2010; 124:118–25.
- II Joensuu M, Kivimäki M, Koskinen A, Kouvonen A, Pulkki-Råback L, Vahtera J, Virtanen M, Väänänen A. Differential associations of job control components with mortality: a cohort study, 1986–2005. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;175:609–19.
- III Joensuu M, Kivimäki M, Pentti J, Virtanen M, Väänänen A, Vahtera J. Components of job control and mortality: the Finnish Public Sector Study. Occup Environ Med. 2014;71:536–42.
- IV Kivimäki M, Nyberg ST, Batty GD, Fransson EI, Heikkilä K, Alfredsson L, Bjorner JB, Borritz M, Burr H, Casini A, Clays E, De Bacquer D, Dragano N, Ferrie JE, Geuskens GA, Goldberg M, Hamer M, Hooftman WE, Houtman IL, Joensuu M, Jokela M, Kittel F, Knutsson A, Koskenvuo M, Koskinen A, Kouvonen A, Kumari M, Madsen IE, Marmot MG, Nielsen ML, Nordin M, Oksanen T, Pentti J, Rugulies R, Salo P, Siegrist J, Singh-Manoux

A, Suominen SB, Väänänen A, Vahtera J, Virtanen M, Westerholm PJ, Westerlund H, Zins M, Steptoe A, Theorell T; IPD-Work Consortium. Job strain as a risk factor for coronary heart disease: a collaborative meta-analysis of individual participant data. Lancet. 2012;380:1491–7.

V Kivimäki M, Vahtera J, Kawachi I, Ferrie JE, Oksanen T, Joensuu M, Pentti J, Salo P, Elovainio M, Virtanen M. Psychosocial work environment as a risk factor for absence with a psychiatric diagnosis: an instrumental-variables analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2010;172:167–72.

ABBREVIATIONS

CES-D	Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression scale
CI	Confidence interval
CIDI	Composite International Diagnostic Interview
COPSOC	Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire
FPSS	Finnish Public Sector Study
GHQ	General Health Questionnaire
HR	Hazard Ratio;
HSCL-10	Hopkins symptom check list -10
ICD-8, 9, 10	International Classification of Diseases, 8th, 9th,
	10 th revisions
JCQ	Job Content Questionnaire
NIOSH-GJSQ	National institute of Occupational Safety and
	Health Generic Job Stress Questionnaire
OR	Odds ratio
QPSnordic	General Nordic Questionnaire
RR	Relative risk
SCAN	Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry
SCL-CD	Symptom Checklist-Core depression
SD	Standard deviation

1 INTRODUCTION

Different areas of life, such as social circumstances, personal relationships and traumatic events, contribute to the stress and health of individuals. A poor psychosocial work environment is believed to be one important source of stress and a risk factor for employee health (1). Increased risk has been observed in particular in relation to mental disorders (2, 3, 4)and cardiovascular disease (5, 6), that is, diseases in which stress is assumed to be a contributing factor. Mental disorders are the leading cause for disability pensions in Finland, accounting for 40% of all disability pensions in 2013 (7). Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death, accounting for 39% of deaths in Finland in 2012 (7). Of specific disorders, ischemic heart disease was the leading cause of Global Burden of Disease in 2010 measured as disability adjusted life-years, and major depressive disorder was ranked 11th (8). The association of job control and health outcomes has been extensively studied during recent decades (9). However, the findings have been inconsistent (e.g. 10, 11) and the methodologies used in the majority of studies have had limitations that have prevented definite conclusions (3, 12).

1.1 The concept of job control

The concept of job control (also known as decision latitude, job autonomy) has been an essential element in the study of work-related psychosocial factors (9, 13). The concept defines a condition where the employee can make decisions about their job on their own and the work is not restricted to a single, repetitive task. The idea of an employee's personal influence and power over their job was presented as early as in the 1960s (14). However, the first wide-spread definition and operation-

alization of the job control construct, as it is used today, was formulated by Hackman & Oldham in the concepts of skill variety and autonomy in the Job Diagnostic Survey in 1975 (15). In 1979, Karasek introduced the Demand-Control model (16) which was influenced by the work of Hackman & Oldham and the Scandinavian tradition of democracy in the workplace (17, p. 4). This model was then applied to study the effects of job content on the health of employees (18). In the Demand-Control model, job control, at first labelled as decision latitude, was comprised of two components: decision authority and skill discretion. Decision authority was described as the degree to which an employee can decide on the amount, tempo/pace and methods of his/her work. Skill discretion referred to opportunities for variable work in which the employee can use his/her competencies and learn new things. Other factors that since then have been seen to be related to the job control concept include work-time control, the employees influence on working times (19).

1.1.1 Theories incorporating the job control concept

Hackman & Oldham constructed the first theory which included job control or an equivalent and operationalized as the calculation of the Motivating Potential Score (15). It was constructed to reflect three Critical Psychological States: Experienced Meaningfulness (task-related factors), Experienced Responsibility (job autonomy) and Knowledge of Results (received feedback). The Motivating Potential Score could be calculated as the product of these three factors. However, this theory has been primarily viewed in relation to job satisfaction, motivation at work and organizational performance (13).

With regard to work-related stress and the associations between psychosocial factors and health, the most influential theory has been the aforementioned Demand-Control model (16, 17) where job demand and job control are plotted as dimensions creating four separate classes: low control-low demands (passive job), high control-high demands (active job), high control-low demands (low strain job), and low control-high demands (high strain job). In this model, often referred to also as the Job strain model, high job demands, such as heavy workload with tight deadlines, and low job control, separately and in combination, are seen as unhealthy aspects of the job. The most stressful work situation, high job strain, is depicted when high demands and low job control co-occur and have additive or even multiplicative negative effects. A buffer-hypothesis of the model implies that higher job control could buffer against the stressful effects of high job demands experienced by the employee. Later, social support has been incorporated into the model suggesting that a high strain situation is more stressful if the employee additionally does not receive social support from colleagues or supervisors (20). This model is referred to as the iso-strain model due to the isolation effect of low social support.

A further development of the Demand-Control model is the Job Demands-Resources model (21), which expands the original Demand-Control model to include a variety of physical, psychological, social, or organizational demands and resources, including job control. The accumulation and interactions of these factors are seen to influence the psychological well-being of employees.

Even the earlier models acknowledge the ambiguity in the job control concept. The Motivating Potential Score model (15), for example, states that higher levels of job control may not always be beneficial to the employee, depending on personal or situational characteristics. Also, the Demand-Control model, in turn, discusses the possibility that higher job control could be a stressor (17, p. 44) or could be confused with job demands (17, p. 62). However, these notions have not been, in general, emphasized in the studies and recommendations made using these models. Moreover, the Vitamin model (22, 23) explicitly states that psychosocial factors do not have a linear beneficial effect and that high job control could be detrimental to employee health. The model states that job characteristics function like vitamins, where an optimal level of a certain job characteristic exists and a further increase may be harmful. However, research based on the Vitamin model has been scarce, though some studies have found support for these non-linear effects (24, 25).

It could be hypothesized that the dimensions of job control, skill discretion and decision authority, are linked to different psychological mechanisms (17. p. 60). Higher skill discretion may have more to do with the motivation of the employee by enriching an otherwise mechanical job. Therefore it may have more influence on outcomes like job satisfaction and boredom at work and the direct stress effects of skill discretion may be smaller. Decision authority, both high and low, could have a more

direct stress mechanism. Low decision authority can be linked to an experience of an employee of being in a demanding situation to which he cannot adjust. High decision authority, on the other hand, may increase the employee's responsibilities and expectations towards him.

Furthermore, it has been noted that the boundaries the job control construct and the possible differential effects of its components have not been explicitly formulated in any theory (26). For example, Ganster (27) identified seven different domains (tasks, pacing, scheduling, physical environment, decision making, other people, and mobility) of work where individuals might have control. He hypothesized whether these are equally important, the same in different occupations or individuals, do they accumulate, and can one compensate for another? Also Kasl (28, p. 50) has pointed out the need to distinguish between questions regarding decision authority and skill discretion in the concept of job control because, though they might both be beneficial and associated with each other, they clearly do not represent the same construct.

1.1.2 The measurement and different operationalizations of job control

The primary method for studying job control has been the use of selfreport questionnaire surveys, where a scale intended to measure the construct is made by combining the answers to a set of questions. In the Job diagnostic survey questionnaire skill variety was measured with question such as "How much variety is there in your job? That is, to what extent does your job require you to do many different things at work?" Autonomy was measured with questions such as "How much autonomy is there in your job? That is, to what extent does your job permit you to decide on your own how to go about doing the work?"

The Job Content Questionnaire (JCQ) (29) was designed for the purpose of testing the Demand-Control model, and has been the most common measure in the research on job control. Skill discretion is measured in the JCQ by 6 items (e.g. "My job requires that I learn new things", "I get to do a variety of things in my job") and decision authority (by 3 items ("My job allows me to make a lot of decisions on my own", "I have a lot to say about what happens in my job", "In my job, I am given little freedom to decide how I do my work"). All the questions for job control dimensions in the JCQ can be found in Study III.

The skill discretion, decision authority and overall job control scales in the JCQ have shown moderate to high internal consistency (29) and factorial validity (29, 30).

Job titles and occupations have been used as external indices of the levels of job control employees have. Job exposure matrices (31) or other work content analyses (32) have been conducted and different occupations are assigned a specific score of job control based on these evaluations. This occupation-specific score is then applied to all employees in this occupation as a proxy measure for their level of job control.

1.2 Previous research on job control and mental health

Much of the research on the associations between job control and mental health has been cross-sectional (33). However, a number of longitudinal studies have also been conducted in which self-reported job control was studied in relation to, for example, general distress scales (34), depression scales (35), doctor-diagnosed depression (36), structured clinical interviews (37) and prescribed antidepressant medications (38). Metaanalyses on these longitudinal studies have found an approximate risk of 1.2 for new-onset mental disorder in employees with low job control at study baseline (2, 3, 4). However, these estimates have been based on only two to eight studies in each meta-analysis. An updated list of 14 prospective studies on job control and mental health is presented in Table 1. As can be seen from the table, only one study (39) analyzed the effects of skill discretion and decision authority separately. In the majority of studies, the composite measure of job control, decision latitude, which combines skill discretion and decision authority, was used. Therefore it is difficult to evaluate the individual effects of these two components.

Studies using an external indicator for levels of job control have not shown large or consistent associations with mental health (39, 40, 41). A study that analysed the differences between aggregated work unit evaluations and self-evaluations of job control of depressed employees found that depressed employees perceived their job control to be lower than non-depressed employees in the same unit suggesting that reporting bias could potentially confound the association between job control and mental health (42).

Study	Year of baseline	z	Follow- up	Baseline health adjustment/ exclusion	Exposure of job control analysed	Outcome	Main findings for low job control
Kawakami (43)	1984	431	1,2, and 3 years	Adjustment for Zung- depression scale	1 item: Lack of control over work pace	Zung-scale depressed cases	RR 1.71* after one year, ns. in 2 nd and 3 rd year.
Griffin (31)	1991– 1993	7270	5 years	GHQ cases for depression and anxiety	JCQ, Decision latitude	GHQ cases for depression and anxiety	OR 1.15 ns. (both sexes) for depression; 1.43* (men), 1.20 ns. (women) for anxiety
Clays (44)	1995– 1998	2139	6.6 years	Exclusion of depression cases according to CES-D	JCQ, Decision latitude	Depression cases according to CES-D	OR 1.07 ns. (men), 1.90* (women)
Niedhammer (35)	1995	11552	12 months	Adjustment for sickness absence due to depression or anxiety	JCQ, Decision latitude	Depressive symptoms, CES-D scale	OR's 1.38* (men), 1.41* (women)
lnoue (45)	1996– 1998	15256	5.1 years	Exclusion of depression cases according to CES-D	NIOSH-GJSQ, Job control	Sickness absence > 30 days due to depression	HR 3.57*
Plaisier (37)	1997	2646	2 years	Exclusion of all mental disorder cases according to CIDI	JCQ, Decision latitude	Depression or anxiety diagnosis in CIDI-interview	RR 0.81 ns.

Table 1. Prospective studies on job control and mental health

18

1 INTRODUCTION

OR 1.0 ns. (0.87 ns. adjusted for baseline GHQ)	OR 0.95 ns. (men), 0.96 ns. (women)	HR 1.06 ns. (women), 0.96 ns. (men)	HR 1.24 ns.	intinues on next page
Doctor diagnosed depression (self report)	Antidepressant medication from drug imbursement registry	Antidepressant medication from drug imbursement registry	Antidepressant medication from drug imbursement registry	Table 1. cc
JCQ, Decision latitude	JCQ, Decision latitude	JCQ, Decision latitude	C OPS OQ, Decision latitude	
Exclusion of doctor diagnosed depression (self- report) cases, adjustment for GHQ cases	Adjusted for self-reported lifetime mental disorders and depression and anxiety cases according to CIDI	Excluded employees with antidepressant medication from drug imbursement registry	Excluded employees with antidepressant medication from drug imbursement registry	
2 years	12 months	5 years	2.3 years	
10969	3366	4488	4815	
1998	2001- 2001	2002 2002	2002– 2005	
Ylipaavalniemi (36)	Virtanen (38)	Laaksonen (46)	Bonde (39) Municipal	

1 INTRODUCTION

Study	Year of baseline	z	Follow- up	Baseline health adjustment/ exclusion	Exposure of job control analysed	Outcome	Main findings for low job control
Bonde (39) County	2005	13335	2.3 years	Excluded employees with antidepressant medication from drug imbursement registry	Ad hoc scale, Skill discretion, Decision authority	Antidepressant medication from drug imbursement registry	HR 1.07 ns. low skill discretion: 1.1 ns. low decision authority
Grynderup (47)	2007	3046	2 years	Exclusion of depression cases according to SCAN	COPSOQ, Decision latitude	Depression cases according to SCAN	OR 1.65 ns.
Finne (48)	2004– 2009	3212	2 years	Exclusion of mental distress cases according to HSCL-10	QPSnordic, Decision control; Control over work intensity	Mental distress cases according to HSCL-10	OR 1.33 ns. for Decision control; 0.90 ns. for Control over work intensity.
Theorell (49)	2008	6177	2 years	Adjustment for SCL-CD depression scale	JCQ, Decision authority	SCL-CD depression scale	β -0.039* (men), -0.019 ns. (women)
* Statistically signif Health Questionna National institute o Interview; COPSOC Hopkins symptom	icant p≤.05. ire; JCQ, Job of Occupation C, Copenhag check list -10	Ns. statis Content nal Safety en Psycho 3; QPSnon	tically non- Questionna and Health social Ques dic ,Genera	significant. RR, Relativite; CES-D, Center fo I Generic Job Stress C stionnaire; SCAN, Sch I Nordic Questionnaii	ve risk; OR, Odds rati or Epidemiologic Stuc Suestionnaire; CIDI, C nedules for Clinical Av re; SCL-CD, Sympton	o; HR, Hazard Ratio; Jies Depression scale; Composite Internatior ssessment in Neurops n Checklist-Core depi	GHQ, General NIOSH-GJSQ, al Diagnostic sychiatry; HSCL-10, ession.

Table 1. continues...

1 INTRODUCTION

1.3 Previous research on job control and cardiovascular health

Studies of job control and cardiovascular health have primarily focused on job strain, job control being viewed only as a part of the Demand-Control model (5, 6). Although low job control on its own has previously been linked with increased, though moderate, risk of different objective cardiovascular outcomes (6), there are some studies that have found no (10, 50, 51) or even some opposite associations, that is, high job control or its subcomponents being related to increased health risk. For example, in a 10-year follow-up of the Framingham Offspring -cohort, high decision authority was associated with increased incident coronary heart disease in women (10). In some studies, the level of job control has also been found to be slightly lower (rather than higher) among persons with normal arteries (52) as compared with patients with prevalent coronary disease. Furthermore, job control has not been an important prognostic factor in patients with acute myocardial infarction (53), though job strain has (53, 54). In a 20-year follow up of employees in Israel, high job control was found to be a protective factor for all-cause mortality in men but a risk factor in women. (11). A meta-analysis of prospective studies on job control and incident cardiovascular disease was performed in this thesis (study IV). Two prospective studies that have been reported after the meta-analysis showed no associations of low job control to incident cardiovascular disease (55, 56). In general, skill discretion and decision authority have not been differentiated in prospective studies on job control and cardiovascular health, with the exception of the Framingham-study (10).

1.4 Hypothesised pathways from job control to mental disorders and cardiovascular disease

The way in which environmental factors, such as the psychosocial situation at work, could affect health has been proposed to involve stress response where external stimuli increases the activation of the hypothalamus-pituitary adrenal gland axis and the release of corticotropic

hormone (57). Harmful effects to health occur when this activation is prolonged without a break in the stress response and the body does not get a chance to relax and recuperate. However, it has been noted that external factors, i.e. stressors, do not elicit a similar physiological response in all individuals, but personal resources and learned behaviours and strategies influence the magnitude of the stress response (58). Perceived control, defined as "the belief that one has one's disposal a response that can influence the averseness of an event" (59), has been seen as an important factor moderating the link between external factors and a stress response (59, 60, 61). Exposure to uncontrollable stress has been linked to higher physiological and neural imaging stress markers both in humans (62) and in animal studies (63) compared with a situation of controllable stress. Repeated exposure to stressful stimuli without means to escape the situation has been found to elicit a withdrawal effect termed "learned helplessness" in animals (64). A similar mechanism, though much more complicated due the different attributions a human can make, has been proposed to be a contributing factor in depression (65). Higher levels of perceived control have also been associated with better health behaviors (66). However, it has been noted that opportunities for control might not be adaptive for all individuals or in all contexts (67) and a recent experimental study found that increasing autonomy over break times in a word processing task elevated the physiological stress levels of female participants (68).

In turn, the mechanisms from stress to illness could be etiological, indirect, triggering or prognostic (5). The etiological effects of prolonged stress can be mental exhaustion which directly leads to depression (69) or physiological changes in metabolism (70), blood pressure (71), platelet function (72) and other mechanisms increasing the risk of cardiovascular disease. Prolonged stress can also have indirect effects, through lifestyle change, where stressed individuals increasingly eat unhealthy foods, exercise less, smoke and use too much alcohol and therefore their risk to cardiovascular disease (73) and/or depression is increased (74). Stress response could also act as a trigger of cardiac or cerebrovascular event in vulnerable persons with already increased risk of manifest disease (75, 76). Finally, stress could act as a prognostic factor where high stress effects the prognosis among individuals who already have the disease (77).

1.5 Gaps in knowledge

Several earlier studies where job control and health have been examined have tested the Demand-Control model (9). In these studies the two components of job control, skill discretion and decision authority, have typically been combined under the general job control construct and their independent associations to health have seldom been tested. Further limitations include low methodological quality in terms of study designs. Only a few longitudinal studies have been reported and of these many are not true prospective studies since they have not controlled for baseline health properly by adjusting or excluding employees with health conditions or preclinical symptoms (3). Therefore reversed causality, i.e. deteriorated health affecting reports of job control, cannot be ruled out as an alternative explanation for the observed associations (78). Also, the follow-up times in longitudinal studies have been quite short, typically one to two years, which makes the observation of significant effects on health conditions which take years to develop unlikely. Reporting (42) and common method (79) biases are further sources of error as typically both job control and health, particularly mental health, have been assessed using self-report questionnaires, which can be influenced by, for example, the personal characteristics of the respondents. The use of symptom scales, such as the General Health Questionnaire, (34) also makes the interpretation of the clinical significance of the results problematic (2). Further, residual confounding by unmeasured factors, such as childhood circumstances (80), may have caused bias in the result. Finally, as socioeconomic status is strongly linked to job control, simple adjustments for socioeconomic status may not be able to properly control for its effects. Socio-economic position and the place in the organizational hierarchy are difficult to separate from the job control concept as socioeconomic position is defined on the basis of power relations; job control, by definition, reflects such relations. This overlap is particularly evident when occupation is used as a measure of socioeconomic position as well as an indicator of job control (81). However, higher education, income, occupational position and high social status stemming from these are strongly associated with better health and therefore can easily confound any analyses of the job control-health associations (82). Ideally, analyses should be run separately for different socioeconomic groups and sectors of employment (83).

2 THE PRESENT STUDY

The overarching aim of this study is to determine the association of job control and with employee health. The limitations of earlier knowledge were taken into account by separating the subcomponents of job control and using prospective data from multiple samples, long follow-up times, clinically relevant objective outcomes and stratified analyses in different socio-economic groups. The outset for the studies was the construction of large employee cohort datasets, the Still Working study, the Finnish Public Sector study and the Individual Participant Meta-analysis consortium, where questionnaire data on working conditions were linked to national health registers for each employee. These datasets were set up in order to get a more reliable and accurate estimation of the associations seen in many earlier studies of the psychosocial working environment and employee health.

Originally, Study I was designed to look at the associations of job control subcomponents with clinical mental health outcomes in a long follow-up. The results turned out to be very surprising and, in part, contrary to the then common understanding of the associations of job control and health. For this reason, Studies II and III were designed to expand and test the generalizability of the discoveries in Study I. Study IV was performed to understand the association between job control (as part of job strain) in a broader European context and Study V was designed to apply an alternative methodology of studying psychosocial factors at work with the aim of reducing reporting bias by using instrumental analysis.

The specific objectives were as follows (original articles are referred to with Roman numerals):

- 1. To determine the associations of job control and its subcomponents, decision authority and skill discretion, with mental ill health (Study I)
- 2. To examine the extent to which the components of job control, decision authority and skill discretion, are associated with cardiovascular disease and total mortality (a replication of Study I with a different set of health outcomes) (Study II)
- 3. To test whether the results on job control and cardiovascular disease and total mortality (study II) are replicable in another research setting (Study III)
- 4. To determine the magnitude of cardiovascular disease risk associated with job control in European working populations based on a large-scale individual-level meta-analysis of multiple cohort studies (Study IV)
- 5. To explore whether the instrumental variable method can be used to strengthen causal inference in the study of the association between job control and health (Study V)

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials and procedures

The data in Studies I and II were from the Still Working study, a prospective cohort study of private sector industrial employees in a Finnish multinational forest industry corporation (84, 85). A questionnaire on behavioural risk factors, psychosocial factors at work and health was sent to all 12 173 employees of the company in Finland in the spring of 1986, and to all 13 411 employees in the spring of 1996. A total of 9 282 employees (response rate 76%) responded to the questionnaire in 1986 and 8 371 (response rate 62%) in 1996. Those who had already responded in 1986 were excluded from the 1996 cohort. All employees who had been admitted to hospital due to mental disorders between 1972 until the time of the survey (n=377) were excluded from the study in Study I. In Study II employees who had been admitted to hospital for cardiovascular-, cancer-, alcohol-related or mental health reasons according to the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register (86) from 1969 until the time of the survey (n=945) were excluded. Thus, the final analytic cohort included 13 868 employees in Study I and 13 510 employees in Study II. The mean age for the analytic cohort was 41.7 years (range 16–65) in Study I and 40.6 years (range 16-65) in Study II.

The data in Study III were derived from the Finnish Public Sector Study (FPSS), an on-going prospective cohort study of employees in the municipal services of 10 Finnish towns and 21 public hospitals (87). The eligible population from the register cohort of FPSS (n=151 618) included those who had been employed for a minimum of six months at the participating organizations between 1991 and 2005. Employers> records have been used to identify the eligible employees for a nested survey cohort to whom questionnaire surveys have been repeated every four years, since 2000. In total, 66 418 participants responded at least once to surveys in 2000 (response rate 67%) and 2004 (response rate 65%). In this study, the data from the first year when the survey response of an employee were available was used. The employees who had been admitted to hospital for cardiovascular-, cancer-, alcohol-related or mental health reasons according to the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register (86) at any time during the 10 years prior to the survey were excluded (n=6 216). Thus, the final analytic cohort included 60 202 employees. The mean age in the cohort was 43.3 years (range 17–69).

Study IV used the individual-participant-data meta-analysis in working populations (IPD-Work) consortium data from 13 independent cohort studies started between 1985 and 2006, in Finland, Sweden, Denmark, the Netherlands, Belgium, France, and the UK. The characteristics of the different cohorts presented in the appendix of Study IV and the measures used in them are analysed in Fransson et al (88). After exclusions for baseline health, the analytic cohort consisted of 197 473 employees. The mean age in the cohort was 42.3 years. The analysis of job control was limited to 8 cohorts to which the authors had full access to the data. Both the Still Working cohort and the FPSS cohort were included in this meta-analysis.

In Study V, female nurses who worked in the 203 hospital wards were identified from the employers' registers from the FPSS cohort. Beginning and end dates for all employment contracts were also retrieved. A total of 3 103 (78%) of the nurses had responded to the questionnaire. To ensure the study participants had been exposed to conditions on the wards for a reasonable length of time, those employees who had at least a contract of 3 months on the wards before the survey were selected (N=2 965). In order to assess sickness absence which started after the measurement of overcrowding and job demands, those employees who had one or more periods of sickness absence with a psychiatric diagnosis during the six months prior the survey (N=39) were excluded. In addition, those participants who had missing data for any of the study variables (N=142) were excluded. The final cohort in Study V consisted of 2 784 female nurses. The mean age in the cohort was 42.2 years (range 20–64).

Using the unique national identification number that each permanent inhabitant in Finland receives, the participants in the Still Working cohort and the Finnish Public Sector cohort were linked to the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register (86), the Statistics Finland National Death Registry (89), which provided comprehensive data on dates and causes of mortality and the drug imbursement register of the Social Security Institution. In Study V the participants were followed up through record linkages for sickness absence with a psychiatric diagnosis in the Social Security Institutions sickness absence allowance register for a 12-month period after the questionnaire survey.

The Ethics Committee of the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health approved studies I, II and V. The Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa approved Study III. Each constituent study in Study IV was approved by the relevant local or national ethics committees.

3.2 Measures

3.2.1 Predictors

In studies I and II dimension of job control were assessed using questions which later formed the core of the Occupational Stress Questionnaire (90). The items of the scales used in studies I and II used are presented in a Web Appendix of Study II. Skill discretion (Cronbach's alpha 0.82) was measured by 5 items (e.g., "Is your work monotonous or variable?" or "Can you use your knowledge and skills in your work?"). Decision authority (alpha 0.79) was measured by five items (e.g., "Can you plan your work yourself?" or "How much influence do you have on the objectives of your work, i.e. on what you are expected to achieve?"). The Pearson correlation between skill discretion and decision authority was 0.46. Correlations between the 2 time points 1986 and1996 in studies I and II, skill discretion r = 0.67, decision authority r = 0.59 show that the job control dimensions were relatively stable over time. Previous studies have found the validity of the scales to be satisfactory (84, 91).

In studies III and V job control dimensions were measured with the JCQ (29). Skill discretion (Cronbach's alpha 0.81, in study III) was measured by 6 items (e.g. "My job involves a lot of repetitive work") and decision authority (alpha 0.77, in study III) was measured by 3 items (e.g. "I have a lot to say about what happens in my job"). All items had

a 5-point scale (1 very little - 5 very much). As there are no validated clinical cut-off points for these scales, both summary scales were divided into tertiles for the analyses.

In Study IV job control and job demands were measured with questions from job-content questionnaire or similar scales in all included studies and the scales were validated and harmonized (88). The Pearson correlation coefficient between the harmonized scales used in Study IV and the complete versions was greater than 0.9 except for one study in which it was 0.8. To minimize investigator bias, the measures derived from the scales were validated before extracting data for coronary heart disease, with investigators masked to outcome information (88).

Ward overcrowding was used as an external predictor in the instrumental analysis in Study V. The participating hospitals collected monthly figures on bed occupancy in each ward according to the procedure set by the National Institute for Health and Welfare in Finland. Monthly bed occupancy was calculated by dividing the sum of inpatient days with the number of beds available (i.e., the number of beds * the number of days the ward was in use). Ward closure days were excluded from the denominator. The day of admission but not the day of discharge for each patient was included in the sum of inpatient days. The rate above which a hospital ward is overcrowded is less than 100% and is defined as >85%.(10–12). To assess the excess rate of bed occupancy, the optimal bed occupancy rate (<85%) was first coded as 0% and all rates above 85%, i.e. overcrowding, were calculated by subtracting 85 from the rate. Then a 4-level overcrowding score was created based on the mean of the monthly excess bed occupancy rates over the preceding 3 months before the survey (1 = 0%; 2 = >0% to <5%; 3 = >5% to <10%, and 4 = >10%excess occupancy). In previous studies, the measure of hospital ward overcrowding has been associated with sub-optimal employee (92) and patient outcomes (93).

3.2.2 Outcomes

Hospital admissions for mental disorders

For studies I and II data on hospital admissions due to mental disorders were collected from the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register maintained by the National Institute for Health and Welfare in Finland (86). The centre gathers discharge records annually from all hospitals in Finland. The register contains dates of admission and discharge, and primary and subsidiary diagnoses according to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) versions 8, 9, or 10 (94, 95). For uniformity, the diagnoses were converted to match the ICD-9 classification. The diagnosis used as the outcome variable was the main or one of the subsidiary diagnoses, whichever was the first mental disorder diagnosis. For disorder-specific analyses the diagnoses were classified into three groups: alcohol-related disorders (ICD-9: 291-292,303-305), unipolar depressive disorders (ICD-9: 296.2, 296.3, 298.0, 300.4, 309.0, 311.0) and other mental disorders, covering all mental disorder diagnoses other than the aforementioned. These diagnoses included mainly bipolar disorders, psychoses, and anxiety disorders, and were grouped together due to a small number of cases in any specific category. The largest diagnostic groups represented in the study group were affective disorders ICD-9 code 296 (169 cases as first admissions with a mental disorder diagnosis) and mental and behavioural disorders due to over-consumption of alcohol ICD-9 code 291 (120 cases) and ICD-9 code 303 (111 cases).

All-Cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality and morbidity

Mortality data from 1 March 1986 to 31 December 2005 in Study II and from 2000 to 2010 in Study III were obtained from the National Death Registry maintained by Statistics Finland. The database provides virtually complete population mortality data (89). The dates and causes of death (from death certificates) were obtained for all the participants. Diagnoses were according to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) versions 8, 9, or 10. For uniformity, they were converted to match the ICD-9 classification. Separate analyses were made for deaths due to cardiovascular diseases (ICD-9 codes 390—459, ICD-10 I00—I99) cancer (ICD-9 codes 140—208, ICD-10 C00—C97), alcohol-related causes (ICD-9 codes 291, 3050, 303, 3575, 4255, 5353, 5710-5713, 5770D-5770F, 7607A, 7795A, E851, E860, ICD-10 F10, G312, G4051, G621, G721, K929 I426, K70, K860, O354, P043, X45) and external causes (ICD-9 codes E800—E858 or E860—E990, ICD-10 V01—X44 or X46—Y89).

Information about incident coronary heart disease during follow-up in Study IV was derived from national hospital admission and death registries in the included studies except the Belstress study (50) in which disease events were registered by the human resources department and occupational health service, and the GAZEL cohort study (96), in which registry data for admission were not available and non-fatal events were based on self-report questionnaires distributed yearly. Individuals were defined as having incident coronary heart disease according to the type and time of diagnosis of their first disease event. Date of diagnosis, hospital admission due to myocardial infarction, or date of death from coronary heart disease was used to define disease incidence, which were recorded with MONICA categories, or codes ICD-9 or ICD-10 revision (94, 95, 97). Only the main diagnosis from mortality and hospital records was used. All non-fatal myocardial infarctions that were recorded as I21-I22 (ICD-10) or 410 (ICD-9) and coronary deaths recorded as I20-I25 (ICD-10) and 410-414 (ICD-9) were included.

Sickness absence for mental disorders

In Study V data on diagnosis-specific sickness absences were retrieved from the national sickness absence register of the Social Insurance Institution of Finland. All permanent residents aged 16-67 years in Finland are entitled to daily allowances due to sickness absence based on a medical certificate. Absences are covered up to one year after a waiting period of nine days, in addition to the first day of illness. If the absentee is paid a wage or salary while on sickness absence (this is the case for all the participants in the present study), sickness allowance is paid directly to the employer. The data cover virtually all sickness absence episodes of 10 days or more. The data also include diagnosis for each sickness absence spell. An ICD-10 diagnosis with 3-digits is assigned to each sickness absence episode by the treating physician. Sickness absence cases were defined as those with sickness absence due to any mental or behavioural disorder (F00–F99) during the one-year follow-up period after the survey. In addition, those with sickness absence due to depressive disorders (F32–F34) were identified.

3.2.3 Covariates

The covariates used in each study are presented in Table 2. Age and sex (Study V included only women) were adjusted for in all studies. Occupational status was adjusted for analyses with job control in studies I, II, III and V. Co-worker support and supervisor support were adjusted for in studies I, II and III and time pressure at work in Study III and in a subsample of I and II. Supervisor status was adjusted for in studies I and II, and sensitivity analyses by excluding all supervisors were made in studies I and II, and in a subsample of Study III. Additional covariates that were included in the samples where available were: smoking status (studies III, IV and subsample of I, II), physical inactivity (III, IV, V subsample I, II), obesity (III, IV, IV), heavy alcohol consumption (III, IV, V subsample I, II), physical work environment (I), and entitlement to imbursement due to chronic diabetes or hypertension in the Drug Imbursement Register held by the Social Insurance Institution (98) in studies I, II and III. In study V adjustments were also made for the length of employment contract (<1, 1-4, >4 years), type of contract (temporary vs. permanent), hospital district, and specialty (internal medicine, surgery, pediatrics, other).

3.3 Statistical analyses

Cox proportional-hazards models were used to analyze the associations between work characteristics and outcomes in studies I, II, III and IV. For each participant, person-days of the follow-up were calculated from the baseline measurement (1986 or 1996 in studies I and II, 2000 or 2004 in Study III and from 1985–2006 depending on the sample in Study IV) until the first outcome event or the end of follow up, whichever came first. In Study I, follow up was stopped for employees who reached the age of 65 (the official retirement age at the time of the study). The average follow-up times are reported in Table 2. The time-dependent interaction terms between each predictor and logarithm of the follow-up period were non-significant in all studies, confirming that the proportional hazards assumption was justified (all p values >0.70). Hazard ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) for categorical independent variables and continuous linear variables provided risk estimates. For the continuous linear variables, the results show the effect associated with one standard deviation increase in standardized work-related psychosocial risk measures at the baseline (mean = 0, standard deviation = 1) or in the item-specific analyses one scale point increase. The analyses were done in a stepwise manner, first examining the unadjusted associations of the predictor to the outcomes. Then adjustments were made by first adjusting for age, sex and occupational status. Then additional adjustments were made for physical health (hypertension, diabetes), physical work environment, supervisor position, supervisor support, co-worker support, time pressure, smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity, and obesity/ BMI depending which of these were available in each study and are presented in Table 2.

The analyses were carried out also in subgroups (men and women in studies I, II, III, IV, white collar and blue collar employees in studies II, III, IV and a combination of sex and occupational status in Study III). In Study II, the mediating effect of the new-onset mental disorders on mortality was analyzed, where hospitalization for mental disorders was additionally adjusted for as a time dependent variable, in which the first hospitalization of each individual was included. In Study IV, the study-specific effect estimates were pooled and their standard errors in fixed-effects results are presented). In Study IV between study heterogeneity was assessed with the I² statistic.

An instrumental variable regression approach was used in Study V (99). The strength of ward overcrowding as an instrument for psychosocial factors was examined by using F statistics (values 10 or more are taken to indicate sufficient strength to ensure the validity of instrumental variable methods) (100, 101) and exogeneity of the instrument by using the Wald test. Associations between sickness absence with a psychiatric diagnosis and those psychosocial factors for which overcrowding provided a sufficiently strong instrument were examined using conventional and instrumental probit regression analysis. The probit model is based on the standard cumulative normal probability distribution and the coefficient of probit model is called the probit index (102). Analyses were adjusted for baseline covariates. To illustrate differences between standard and instrumented analyses, probabilities of sickness absence with a psychiatric

diagnosis were calculated for those at the bottom and top quartile of the psychosocial work factors. All these analyses were repeated using sickness absence with diagnoses of depressive disorders as the outcome variable.

All the analyses in the different studies were performed with maximum data, which resulted in some variation in the number of participants in different comparisons. The only exception was the multivariate models, which involved only the participants with no data missing for any of the predictors. The Cox proportional-hazards model analyses were conducted using the PHREG procedure in the SAS 9.1 or 9.2 statistical software package (103). The pooled effects in Study IV were calculated with STATA-MP version 11.1. The instrument variable regression analyses in Study V were made with STATA 10.0 software. The forest plot figure in Study III was produced with Meta Data Viewer software (104).

Study characteristics	_	=	I	N	٨
Study sample	The Still working cohort	The Still working cohort	The FPSS cohort	The IPD-cohort	Female nurses from the FPSS cohort
Analytic cohort <i>n</i>	13 868	13 510	60 202	197 473	2784
Men %	77	77	20	51	0
Age, mean,range	41.7, 16–65 years	40.6, 16–65 years	43.3, 17–69 years	42.3 years, *	42.2, 20–64 years
Blue collar %	67	67	18	32	0
Response rate	76 % in 1986, 62 % in 1996	76 % in 1986, 62 % in 1996	67 % in 2000, 65 % in 2004	*	78 %
Study design	Prospective	Prospective	Prospective	Prospective	Prospective
Follow up	15 years 1 month	15 years 5 months	8 years 10 months	7 years 6 months	1 year
Predictors	Skill discretion Decision authority	Skill discretion Decision authority	Skill discretion Decision authority	Job control	Ward overcrowding, Job demands, Job control

Table 2. Description of the characteristics of the cohorts used in each study.

3 MATERIAL AND METHODS

Table 2. continues on next page...

Study	_	=	=	2	>
characteristics					
Outcomes	Hospitalisation for all-cause and cause- specific mental disorder	All-cause and car- diovascular mortality	All-cause and car- diovascular mortality	Hospital admis- sion or myocardial infarction or death from cardiovascular disease	Sickness absence of >9 days due to mental disorder
<i>n</i> of cases	577 all-cause mental disorder hospitalisations	981 all-cause, 375 cardiovascular deaths	696 all-cause, 128 cardiovascular deaths	2.358 incident coronary heart disease events	102 employees with a sickness absence
Covariates	Age, sex, occupational status, cardiac events, diabetes, physical work environment, supervisor support, co-worker support	Age, sex, occupational status, cardiac events, diabetes, supervisor support. Time pressure, smoking, alcohol use and physical activity in the 1986 cohort.	Age, sex, occupational status, cardiac events, diabetes, time pressure, smoking, alcohol use, physical activity, obesity	Age, sex	Age, length of employment, hospital district, specialty, smoking, physical activity, alcohol use, obesity.
Sensitivity analyses	Supervisor status, separate analyses for the two time cohorts	Supervisor status, separate analyses for the two time cohorts, preceding layoffs, early retirement, turnover	Supervisor status for 1/2 of the sample		1
* The characteristi	cs of the 13 different co	phorts are depicted in Fr	ansson et al. (88)		

Table 2. continues.

3 MATERIAL AND METHODS

4 **RESULTS**

4.1 Associations between decision authority, skill discretion and mental health

The associations between psychosocial work characteristics and mental health was studied in the Still Working cohort from 1986 and 1996 to 2005 (Study I). Descriptive statistics are presented in Table 2. During a mean follow-up of 15 years and one month, 577 subjects had been admitted to a hospital with a mental disorder diagnosis (458 men and 93 women). Figure 1 shows the associations of high skill discretion and high decision authority to all- and cause-specific mental disorders in the multivariate adjusted model. In this model adjusted for age, sex, occupational status, physical health (cardiac events, diabetes) and physical work environment, high skill discretion was associated with a reduced risk of all mental disorders (HR 0.74, 95% CI 0.58, 0.95) but in contrast high decision authority was associated with a significant increased risk (HR 1.48, 95% CI 1.17, 1.87). Skill discretion was also associated with a reduced risk for depressive (HR 0.59, 95% CI 0.37, 0.92) and other mental disorders (HR 0.60, 95% CI 0.39–0.94) whereas high decision authority was associated with an increased risk of alcohol-related (HR 1.62, 95% CI 1.19, 2.22) and depressive disorders (HR 1.70, 95% CI 1.12, 2.60). The analyses were repeated when treating the psychosocial predictors as continuous linear variables with similar results (Study I, p.121).

4 RESULTS



Figure 1. Associations of job control components and mental disorders. Job control variables were entered together and adjusted for age, sex, occupational status, physical health (hypertension, diabetes) and physical work environment. HRs and error bars for 95% CIs for high (reference low=1) tertile groups.

Because the effects of skill discretion and decision authority strengthened when examined together, the effects of decision authority were analyzed in the different skill discretion levels in the multivariate adjusted model. Here, decision authority had no significant effect on all mental disorders in the low skill discretion group, but a significant effect on both in the intermediate (HR 1.69, 95% CI 1.18, 2.44) and especially in the high skill discretion group (HR 2.11, 95% CI 1.16, 3.82). A stratified analysis according to occupational status showed that for blue collar workers both intermediate (HR 1.27, 95% CI 1.01, 1.59) and high decision authority (HR 1.45, 95% CI 1.13, 1.87) were significant risks and intermediate skill discretion (HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.64, 1.00) was a protective factor of all mental disorders. For white collar workers both intermediate (HR 0.57, 95% CI 0.32, 0.99) and high skill discretion (HR 0.39, 95% CI 0.21–0.70) were protective of all mental disorders. High decision authority was not a significant risk factor for white collar workers (HR 1.77, 95% CI 0.93, 3.38).

As a sensitivity analysis, the analyses were repeated in separate cohorts, i.e. respondents in 1986 with a 19-year follow-up and those in 1996 with a 9-year follow-up and also when excluding all supervisors (N=2 665). The results of these analyses were similar to the main analyses although not all factors remained statistically significant with the smaller numbers.

4.2 Associations of decision authority and skill discretion with all-cause and cause-specific mortality

The associations of decision authority and skill discretion with all-cause and cause-specific mortality were studied in the Still Working cohort and the Finnish Public Sector- cohort and are described in studies II and III. Table 2 presents the descriptive statistics of the cohorts. In the Still Working cohort 67% were blue-collar employees and 33% white-collar. During the mean follow-up of 15 years and 5 months, standard deviation (S.D.) 5 years 1 month, 981 subjects (868 men and 113 women, 7% of the sample) died. The average time from the survey to death was 11 years and 10 months, S.D. 5 years 5 months. In the FPSS cohort 82% were white-collar employees and 18% blue-collar. During the mean follow-up of 8.8 years, S.D. 1.7 years, 696 subjects (249 men and 447 women, 1% of the sample) had died. The average time from the survey to death was 5.6 years, S.D. 2.6 years.

4 RESULTS

		Un	adjusted	Мо	del 1ª
	n (cases)	Hazard ratio	(95% CI)	Hazard ratio	(95% CI)
Still working cohort			All causes		
Skill discretion					
Low	4312 (283)	1		1	
Intermediate	4852 (344)	1.04	0.89, 1.22	0.87	0.74, 1.03
High	4346 (354)	1.15	0.99, 1.35	0.98	0.82, 1.17
Decision authority					
Low	4604 (293)	1		1	
Intermediate	4628 (343)	1.16	0.99, 1.35	1.12	0.95, 1.31
High	4278 (345)	1.29	1.11, 1.51	1.26	1.07, 1.49
FPSS					
Skill discretion					
Low	17915 (255)	1		1	
Intermediate	23298 (264)	0.81	0.68–0.96	0.91	0.76–1.09
High	18410 (172)	0.66	0.55-0.80	0.82	0.67-1.01
Decision authority					
Low	17707 (225)	1		1	
Intermediate	27516 (305)	0.86	0.72-1.02	0.90	0.76-1.07
High	14322 (158)	0.85	0.69–1.04	0.87	0.71-1.07
Still working cohort			Cardiovascular		
Skill discretion					
Low	4312 (101)	1		1	
Intermediate	4852 (140)	1.18	0.91, 1.53	0.94	0.72, 1.22
High	4346 (134)	1.22	0.94, 1.58	1.01	0.76, 1.34
Decision authority					
Low	4604 (101)	1		1	
Intermediate	4628 (139)	1.36	1.05, 1.76	1.30	1.00, 1.69
High	4278 (135)	1.47	1.14, 1.90	1.47	1.12, 1.93

Table 3. Association of job control components with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in the two cohorts.

FPSS					
Skill discretion					
Low	17915 (53)	1		1	
Intermediate	23298 (43)	0.63	0.42-0.94	0.75	0.49–1.14
High	18410 (30)	0.56	0.36–0.87	0.75	0.46-1.23
Decision authority					
Low	17707 (43)	1		1	
Intermediate	27516 (56)	0.83	0.56–1.23	0.88	0.59–1.31
High	14322 (27)	0.76	0.47-1.23	0.79	0.48–1.29

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval. ^a Model 1 job control variables entered separately, adjusted for age, sex and occupational status, and physical health (hypertension, diabetes).

Table 3 shows the associations of skill discretion and decision authority with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in both the Still Working and FPSS cohorts. In the Still Working cohort a similar association found in Study I with mental disorders was also found as high decision authority was associated with increased all-cause and cardiovascular mortality both in the unadjusted model and also when adjusted for age, sex, occupational status and physical health. Figure 2 shows the survival function for levels of decision authority in the fully adjusted model. Skill discretion showed no significant associations with all-cause or cardiovascular mortality in the Still Working cohort.

4 RESULTS



Figure 2. Survival for levels of decision authority, by fully adjusted Cox curve model in the Still Working cohort.

In the FPSS cohort high skill discretion had a protective effect for all cause and cardiovascular mortality in the unadjusted model. After adjusting for age, sex, occupational status and physical health, neither skill discretion nor decision authority showed significant effects.

In the Still Working cohort the stratified results for men and women and blue/white collar employees were in line with the overall analyses (Study II appendix). The associations stratified by sex and occupational status in the FPSS cohort are presented in Figure 3. High skill discretion was associated with decreased mortality risk among white collar men and women in combination, but when further stratified by sex the association remained only for white collar women (HR 0.74, 95% CI 0.56, 0.98). High decision authority was associated with lower mortality among white collar women (HR 0.71, 95% CI 0.53, 0.96). In contrast, high decision authority was associated with higher mortality among blue collar women (HR 1.82, 95% CI 1.04, 3.20).



43

The role of severe mental disorders as a pathway from psychosocial working environment to mortality was examined in the Still Working cohort. An adjustment of the final model between job control components and mortality for psychiatric hospital admissions both irrespective of cause and for specific disorder type only marginally attenuated the effect and the associations remained statistically significant: from HR 1.28 into 1.24 for high decision authority in all-cause and from HR 1.49 into 1.47 in cardiovascular mortality after adjusting for hospitalization for any mental disorder during the follow up (Table 3 in Study III, p. 614).

Sensitivity analyses were performed in a number of ways. Supervisor status was adjusted for in the Still Working cohort. In the FPSS cohort for information on supervisor status was available for approximately half of the sample, for which the analyses were repeated with all supervisors excluded. These results were in line with the overall analyses, though with wider confidence intervals. Possible selection biases related to job control components were also analyzed in the Still Working cohort by analyzing the effects of early retirement, previous lay-offs, and employee turnover (Study II p. 616). These analyses did not reveal any substantial effects of selection bias. Associations with all-cause mortality were also reported with each individual item of the job control scales used (Study II appendix, Study III p. 538). In the Still Working cohort analyses were also made separately in the 1986 cohort and the 1996 cohort, which were in the same direction as the overall analyses, but statistically significant only for high decision authority in the 1986 cohort (Study II appendix).

4.3 Job control and cardio-vascular mortality in a European large-scale individual meta-analysis

The association between job control as a unified construct and incident coronary heart disease was studied in the IPD cohort and described in Study IV. Descriptive statistics of the IPD cohort are presented in Table 2. In total 197 473 participants were included in the analysis. Mean age at study entry was 42.3 years (SD 9.8) and half of participants were women. During 1 488 728 person-years at risk (mean follow-up 7.5 years, SD 1.7), 2 358 incident coronary heart disease events were recorded. In the analysis of job

control (8 cohorts to which the authors had full access to the data) adjusted for age, sex high job control was associated with lower incident coronary heart disease (HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.67–0.97 for highest quartile vs. lowest quartile or HR 0.93, 95% CI 0.89–0.98 for standardized scores when treated as a continuous variable, Study IV appendix). However, when additionally adjusted for socioeconomic status, there was no association between job control and incident coronary heart disease (HR 0.95, 95% CI 0.75–1.19 for highest quartile vs. lowest quartile or HR 0.99, 95% CI 0.92–1.07 for standardized scores when treated as a continuous variable). This analysis adjusted for sex, age and socioeconomic status was not reported in Study IV.

4.4 Hospital ward overcrowding as an instrument between job demands, job control and mental health

The possibility of using instrumental variable regression as a novel method for examining the associations between psychosocial characteristics and health was studied in a subsample of female nurses in the FPSS cohort and is described in Study V. Descriptive statistics of the subsample of FPSS used are presented in Table 2. The mean age of the 2 784 female nurses was 42.2 years. Of the covariates used permanent employment contract and longer employment were associated with self-reported job demands but not with recorded ward overcrowding. Higher age was associated with greater self-reported job demands, but a lower extent of overcrowding. The association between job demands and alcohol intake was stronger than that between overcrowding and alcohol intake and only job demands were associated with body mass index. The extent of ward overcrowding provided a strong instrument for job demands (F=67.15), but not for job control (F=2.57). Similarly, Wald test of exogeneity was significant for job demands ($\chi^2(1)=9.84$, p=0.0017), but it was not possible to compute for job control, as the test assumptions were not met. Thus, further analyses are confined to job demands only.

During the 12-month follow-up, 102 individuals had at least one sickness absence with a diagnosis of mental disorder. Both a greater exposure to overcrowding and higher self-reported job demands were associated with increased risk of sickness absence due to a mental and behavioural disorder. The latter association was stronger, but less precisely estimated, in the instrumental variables analysis which took into account only the variation in self-reported job demands that was explained by overcrowding. Based on an age-adjusted instrumented model, the estimated probability of having a sickness absence with a diagnosis of mental or behavioural disorder was 0.6 (95% confidence intervals 0.4–0.9) percent for individuals in the bottom quartile for self-reported job demands and 26.1 (9.7–50.7) percent for those in the top quartile. The corresponding figures in standard non-instrumented analyses were 2.1 (1.4–3.2) and 5.0 (3.9–6.4) percent, respectively. Repeating the analyses with sickness absence due to depressive disorders as the outcome produced similar associations. The findings were little affected by additional adjustment for all baseline characteristics.

5 DISCUSSION

5.1 Main findings

Skill discretion and decision authority, the main components of job control, showed different and, to some extent, opposite and subgroupspecific associations with mental and cardiovascular health. In general, high decision authority was associated with an increased risk of future mental or cardiovascular ill health. High skill discretion, on the other hand, showed no association with the health outcomes or was associated with a decreased risk of future mental or cardiovascular ill health. These findings were consistent in the Still Working cohort, but replicated only in a subgroup of blue collar women in relation to total mortality in the FPSS cohort. In contrast, both high skill discretion and high decision authority were associated with a reduced risk for all-cause mortality for white collar women in the FPSS cohort. Job control as a combined construct of skill discretion and decision authority did not show associations to incident cardiovascular disease in a large-scale meta-analysis of European prospective studies. Objective data (hospital ward overcrowding) on psychosocial work characteristics succeeded in an instrumental variable regression to confirm the association of subjectively evaluated job demands, but not job control, with future mental health disorders measured by sickness absences of over 10 days.

5.2 Comparison of the findings with previous studies

Although the distinction between the components of job control, skill discretion and decision authority, is clearly made in the formulation of

the concept (17), and it has been suggested that it may be important to analyze the components separately (28, 105), the majority of studies so far have used a combined measure (3, 4, 6). The findings from this study reiterate that job control is not an unequivocal concept which could be used as a single construct to predict health outcomes. Also, two recent studies have reported similar findings that contradict the notion that components of high job control are always beneficial for employee health. A study of older workers found that high influence at work (a measure close to decision authority) was associated with higher blood pressure (106) and another study found that for employees working longer hours (>40 h a week) higher work time control was associated with an increased risk of sleep disturbances (107). As can be seen from Table 1, only one prospective study (39) on mental health was found that reported the effects of decision authority and skill discretion separately, and there were no differences as neither showed significant effects. There is a possibility for a biased interpretation of the non-reporting of separate effects, as many studies might have tested the effects separately, but if they show similar results, they are combined in the reporting of the study.

5.3 Interpretation of the findings

It is important to consider the social structures and social contexts when trying to understand why high decision authority at work could be a risk of mortality or mental disorders (108). The influence of social context became evident after Study III as the results from the Still Working cohort were replicated only in a subsample in the FPSS cohort. Given that Study III found effects for women but not for men, it might be argued that there is a gender difference in the associations of job control components with mortality. However, as there was an increased risk of mortality in men and women with high decision authority in Study II in the Still Working cohort, it is more likely that the gender differences in Study III reflect something other than genuine gender differences. It is possible, for example, that the types of jobs or organization practices in which women work have a role. Gender may also mark differences in resources and management which may explain the observed gender differences. Indeed, there is a discrepancy between the subjectively reported and external assessments of working conditions between men and women; women in 'active' jobs with high perceived demands and control have more externally evaluated hindrances and less externally evaluated influence than men in active jobs (32). This could explain why an active job has been associated with cardiovascular disease outcomes (109, 10) and all-cause mortality (11) in women. Also, there is more variation between job control levels in women than in men between occupational classes, i.e. men with low levels of job control were closer to men with high levels than women with low levels of job control were to women with high levels (110).

The reasons for differences in the job control component-health associations between the cohorts and between the subgroups within cohorts are not known. One possibility is that co-existing organizational features, such as resources or management styles, make higher decision authority burdensome for some of the employees. For some groups, such as the white collar women in the FPSS cohort, individual decision authority may be more part of the overall management structure, whereas for other groups the high decision authority could relate to an 'unofficial' supervisor status with an expectation for the employees to carry extra responsibility. Higher job control in some circumstances could also be related to a role conflict or role ambiguity (111, 112), where the employee can make autonomous decisions but is faced with conflicting or implicit demands from different sources in the organization, and does not know what is expected of him.

The larger societal context could also play a role in the findings that go against the common theories of job control (108). The concept of job control was developed in the late 1970s during an era of growing industrialization. The job content in such settings often was to perform simple, repetitive tasks, with minimal breaks in a tight production rate. This type of situation has indeed been shown to increase physiological stress reaction in experimental settings (113). In this earlier context the challenges to better the working situation of employees were to enrich the job description and raise the status of the employees and promote their viewpoints. However, contemporary work life has changed quite a lot from previous decades and the pace of change is accelerating (114). Project work, fixed-term contacts, flexible working arrangements and outsourcing are trends in modern work life (115). Higher decision authority could actually be a marker of a job, where these trends have been felt and the change has brought with it, for example, excessive working hours (116) and role conflicts (112). The skill discretion challenges of today relate to keeping up with the changes and learning requirements of new jobs. The decision authority of today's working life could be described as "self-management" or "self-leadership" (117) where the employee has to figure out how to solve the often ambiguous and unpredictable challenges in his/her work.

A recent experimental study found that increasing autonomy over breaks in a word processing task elevated the physiological stress levels of female participants (68). The participants perceived to have more autonomy but also performed worse when given control over the breaks. The possibility to control when to have a break could actually increase the complexity of the task and increase cognitive load as it adds one more element, which should be taken into account when performing the task. A distinction should be made between the sense and the means of control an employee has. Job control is conceptualized as a characteristic of a particular job, where the employee has *means* of control, i.e. the power to choose tasks. However, a sense of control would be the feeling of an employee that the work is proceeding as it should. Therefore an increase in means does not necessarily bring about an increase in the sense of control. If the employee already has a high sense of control in his job, introducing more means of control might not be beneficial. High decision authority has been found to be associated with an elevated risk of hospitalization due to anxiety disorders in women (40). It may not only be a resource for the employee, but also a burden, and common method variance may bias associations in the short term, especially as decision authority may be viewed as desirable by the employees without realizing the long-term detrimental effects associated with cumulated stress. High skill discretion, on the other hand, might protect against apathy and boredom at work, which can influence the deterioration of mental health.

The findings of this study call into question the timeliness of existing theories of psychosocial work environment and health, most notably the Demand – Control model (17, 18). In Study IV there was no association between the combined job control construct and incident coronary heart disease adjusted for age, sex and socioeconomic status. The overall effect of the full Demand-Control model reported was that a high strain job was associated with a 1.17 fold increased risk. The age and sex adjusted population attributable risk of job strain was 3.4%. All these estimates are lower than what previous reviews have found (5, 6). The differential effects of the job control components and subgroup- and between sample differences could explain why the effects are so modest, but further research is needed to confirm this.

The Demand-Control model has been criticized, on the one hand, for its simplistic nature and, on the other hand, for its vague and imprecise formulations of its components and the analysis strategies suggested (83, 118). Nevertheless, it has been the dominant theory of associations between the psychosocial work context and employee health. Based on the finding of this study it cannot be concluded that higher job control would be a bad or a good thing for employee health as such. However, the problem with more complex models of work characteristics, such as the Vitamin model (22) or the job demands-resources model (21), is that the models become too complex to test in practice and to interpret. Also recommendations based on these models can be difficult to make as the precise level of a factor can be hard to pinpoint and, due to the vagueness in operationalizations, anything can be interpreted as a positive or a negative factor depending on the outcome. In his commentary, Rugulies (108) presents a hierarchical framework which takes the societal, organizational and personal context better into account, but also acknowledges that even this framework is both oversimplified and too complex at the same time. In order to build a robust study design with a large sample size and high response rates, simple concepts that are easy to measure and interpret are needed. However, this makes the depiction of the actual work context easily too simplified. Also the actual meanings and content of the job are not always easy to interpret as the same question or situation can mean different things to different people or in different occupations (83).

A novel approach to evaluate the psychosocial working conditions is instrumental variable regression (99). In Study V this method was adopted in order to gain a clearer, and a more valid picture of psychosocial factors as predictors of mental health. The external instrument used, hospital ward overcrowding, was successful in validating self-reported job demands, and these combined evaluations of ward overcrowding and self-reported demands showed an exceptional effect on sickness absences due to psychiatric disorder. The probability of sickness absence in the following year was 26.1% for employees in the highest quartile of the instrumented variable and only 0.6% in the lowest quartile. This effect is exceptionally large compared to effects of job demands measured with self-reports only, which have yielded modest effects (2, 3, 4). Instrumental variable regression has been also used in a study in elderly care, where the influence of job demands and job strain could be corroborated by using staffing level as an external instrument (119). However, ward overcrowding was not a suitable instrument for job control. In the future, new external indicators of decision authority and skill discretion are needed to validate the concepts and to facilitate the interpretations. These indicators could involve, for example, structures like flat organizations with low levels of hierarchy.

5.4 Strengths and limitations

Several strengths and limitations of this study involve study design and assessment of job control and its components as well as the health outcomes.

5.4.1 Study designs

All the cohort studies included in this thesis were prospective and had information about baseline health status which was controlled for in the analysis (either by adjustment or exclusion of baseline cases) strengthening inferences about temporal associations. A possible limitation is overcontrol as the exclusion criteria could be too strict if the baseline health condition actually reflected the effects of job control and its components. On the other hand, as the health status was based on medical records, there could also be a certain degree of undercontrol as preclinical health and undiagnosed diseases would not have been taken into account. However, it seems unlikely that an existing unmeasured health condition would have "caused" higher decision authority meaning as the results would be attributable to reversed causation bias. Another strength is the use of different sources of information to assess the predictors and the outcomes providing protection against common method bias (79). The follow-up periods in the present analyses varied between 1 and 20 years and were much longer than in previous studies (see Table 1), which observed different effects than in this study. It is possible that long follow-ups contribute to effect dilution and thus underestimation of the associations as the working conditions may have changed since the measurement, a source of exposure misclassification. However, the association of high decision authority with health outcomes was consistent over time and can be seen in the difference between levels of decision authority and mortality during the 20 years of follow-up in Study II.

Another strength was the large samples sizes, reasonable high response rates (62–78%) and coverage of different areas of work, such as industrial vs. public service, private vs. public, male vs. female dominated occupations. The IPD work consortium included a large number of major high quality cohort studies in Europe in the meta-analysis.

5.4.2 Assessment of exposures

A feature which could be considered either a strength or a limitation was that two different versions of scales were used to measure job control components. Both versions have shown good psychometric properties, but some of the differences between studies II and III could be due to the differences in the scales. The job control components were measured only at a single time point. It is uncertain whether such measurement provides an accurate estimate of the long-term effect although employees in both the forest industry and the public sector appear to have rather long and stable careers with regard to psychosocial characteristics. Any such inaccuracy in measurement should, in theory, attenuate rather than exacerbate the effects.

Because major drawbacks in working conditions in developed countries are relatively rare due to highly developed occupational legislation and policies, variation in psychosocial work-related factors is constricted, reducing opportunities to observe strong associations (118). This may also apply to the organizations participating in the Still Working cohort and the FPSS cohort as they represent very responsible employers.

In Study V, ward overcrowding was informative in relation to job demands, but not job control, which was not associated with the instrument. This result is plausible since overcrowding is conceptually closer to job demands than job control is. Also, there are three important assumptions behind the instrumental variables analysis: First, the variable should influence the outcome only via its association with the exposure variable of interest, i.e., perceived job demands. There should not be a direct path from the instrument to the outcome variable. Second, there should not be a shared common prior cause of the instrument and the outcome variable. Third, there should not be a path between the instrument and the set of unobserved confounding variables. It is unclear whether the third assumption can be met in occupational settings, such as the one in this study.

5.4.3 Ascertainment of disease endpoints

The outcomes used in the study, hospital admissions for mental disorder diagnosis, mortality records and long-term (≥ 10 days) sickness absences, are objective, distinct endpoints which facilitate the interpretation of the findings. However, hospital admissions and sickness absences can be confounded by factors affecting the likelihood whether or not the individual seeks treatment for his/her condition (120, 121). Sickness absence and hospitalization from psychiatric diagnosis can also be subject to misclassification when used as outcomes for disease, because, for example, only a small proportion of those depressed will be admitted to a hospital (122). Also, despite the large sample sizes, the number of outcome events in some of the subgroups was fairly small, increasing the possibility of chance findings. The outcomes used represent the extreme endpoints of ill health. Therefore they may show different associations than symptom based self-reports.

The specificity of the findings strengthens the evidence. Because decision authority was associated with specific stress-related causes of mortality, i.e. cardiovascular and alcohol-related deaths, but not with mortality from cancer or external causes, it is plausible that the effects are mediated by the stress response. The associations were not attributable to the onset of serious mental disorders requiring hospital treatment, as the adjustment for hospitalizations had little effect on the results. This implies that the associations between components of job control and cardiovascular diseases are not driven by the effect of severe mental disorders only, but that high decision authority may be linked to cardiovascular deaths through other potential mediating factors, including mild and moderate mental disorders, lifestyle factors, and social circumstances.

5.4.4 Control for confounders

Confounding due to socioeconomic status is a major source of bias in studies on job control and health (83). To reduce this bias, samples of defined employment sectors were chosen and analyses were stratified by occupational status within the cohort. This strategy controls for the confounding effect more completely than a simple adjustment for socioeconomic status in population samples. However, the fact that men and women were not evenly divided between different tasks and jobs with women being overrepresented in white collar occupations may have affected the results. For example, in the Still Working cohort, men had a higher, though not statistically significant, risk of depressive disorders than women, which is generally not found. This implies that controlling for occupational class only as blue/white collar might not control for all differences between socioeconomic factors between genders.

To reduce bias, analyses were adjusted for age, sex and a number of other sources of confounding, such as health behaviours (smoking, obesity, sedentary life style and alcohol use), health status, other work-related factors (e.g. time pressure, supervisor status, supervisor support, co-worker support and physical work environment) and career factors such as preceding lay-offs, early retirement and turnover. However, residual confounding of unmeasured risk factors remains a potential explanation for results in observational studies. For example, socioeconomic circumstances before the study entry and their changes during the follow-up could have affected the observed associations. Data were missing for important cardiovascular risk factors, such as blood pressure, cholesterol and glucose levels and therefore these could not be adjusted for.

A limitation is that as the analyses were based on existing cohorts, individual characteristics that were not included in the original surveys could not be adjusted for and their possible moderating effects studied. For example, locus of control is a personality trait where a person has a tendency to think either that outcomes are under his/her personal control (internal locus) or that they are determined by external forces beyond their control (external locus) (123). High job control has been found to

increase the effects of stressors on well-being for employees with external locus of control (124). Also, high commitment to work has been shown to moderate the association between job control and somatic symptoms among persons in a leadership position (125). Other individual characteristics that could be included as moderators of the job control-health association are, for example, sense of coherence and self-efficacy. High sense of coherence describes individuals who could maintain a sense of control and hope in devastating circumstances (126). Self-efficacy, on the other hand, refers to the individual's belief that he can succeed in the task at hand, i.e. the task is within the scope of his abilities (127). Both of these constructs come closer to the sense of control the employee may feel as opposed to the means of control as a job characteristic.

5.5 Implications and directions for future research

In efforts to improve to the psychosocial work environment, a general notion has been that the more job control an individual employee has, the better (1). However, the findings of this study imply that job control as such might not be an unequivocal concept and that high levels of job control as defined in the basic theories of work stress might not be possible to straightforwardly attribute as a risk or protective factors in terms of health. In efforts to improve the working conditions and employee health, a more differentiated and holistic approach could be adopted. Although some single factors, such as bullying (128), can be interpreted as totally negative, the majority of other psychosocial concepts might work in many directions and cannot be easily separated from each other. For example, organizational structures that, on the one hand, limit individual decision authority may, on the other hand, have benefits for the overall functioning of the work unit, by providing continuity and support for the employee, and allowing the employee to focus on his/her basic task, which may reduce the overall psychological workload.

Future studies could examine what the key concepts in current working life in developed countries are, and how the concepts such as job control and decision authority manifest in different work situations. Insights into the influence of different social contexts could be gained through, for example, meta-regression which allows for the quantification of the different moderating effects of social circumstances (129). Also, further efforts to identify external indicators to corroborate selfreported data, such as the instrumental variable regression used in this study, should be encouraged. Concrete organizational changes, such as work and team restructuring, outsourcing of work and the formulation of work into projects could be depicted in detail and their health effects analyzed as quasi-experiments (130). Analysis of the relations that these changes have on the components of job control and employee health is likely to increase insight into the effects of psychosocial work environment on employee health.

REFERENCES

- Occupational Health: Stress at the workplace [homepage on the Internet]. World Health Organisation. [cited 22.9.2014]. Available from: http://www.who.int/occupational_health/ topics/stressatwp/en/
- 2. Netterstrøm B, Conrad N, Bech P, et al. The relation between work-related psychosocial factors and the development of depression. Epidemiol. Rev. 2008;30:118–32.
- 3. Bonde J. Psychosocial factors at work and risk of depression: a systematic review of the epidemiological evidence. Occup Environ. Med. 2008;65:438–45.
- Stansfeld S, Candy B. Psychosocial work environment and mental health a meta-analytic review. Scand J Work Environ. Health. 2006;32:443–62.
- Kivimäki M, Virtanen M, Elovainio M et al. Work stress in the etiology of coronary heart disease – a meta-analysis. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2006;32:431–42.
- Belkic KL, Landsbergis PA, Schnall PL et al. Is job strain a major source of cardiovascular disease risk? Scand J Work Environ Health. 2004;30:85–128.
- 7. Findicator. [homepage on the Internet]. Statistics Finland. [cited 22.9.2014]. Available from: http://www.findikaattori.fi/en
- Murray CJ, Vos T, Lozano R, et al. Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* 2012; 380: 2197–223.
- de Lange AH, Taris TW, Kompier MA et al. "The very best of the millennium": longitudinal research and the demand-control-(support) model. J Occup Health Psychol. 2003; 8: 282–305
- 10. Eaker ED, Sullivan LM, Kelly-Hayes M et al. Does Job strain increase the risk for coronary heart disease or death in men and women? Am J Epidemiol. 2004;159:950 58.
- 11. Shirom A, Toker S, Alkaly Y et al. Work-based predictors of mortality: a 20-year follow-up of healthy employees. Health Psych. 2011;30:268–275.
- 12. Eller NH, Netterstrøm B, Gyntelberg F et al. Work-related psychosocial factors and the development of ischemic heart disease: a systematic review. Cardiol Rev. 2009;17:83–97.
- Jackson S. Does Job Control Control Job Stress? In: Sauter SL, Hurrel JJ, Cooper CL. eds. Job Control and Worker Health. New York: John Wiley & Sons Ltd; 1989.

- Mechanic D. Sources of power of lower participants in complex organizations. Administrative Science Quarterly. 1962;7:349–364.
- Hackman JR, Oldham GR. Development of job diagnostic survey. J Appl Psychol, 1975; 60: 159–70.
- Karasek, R. A. Job demands, job decision latitude, and mental strain: Implications for job redesign. Administrative Science Quarterly. 1979; 24: 285–308.
- 17. Karasek, R, Theorell T. Healthy work: stress, productivity and the reconstruction of the working life. New York, NY: Basic Books; 1990.
- Karasek R, Baker D, Marxer F et al. Job decision latitude, job demands, and cardiovascular disease: a prospective study of Swedish men. Am J Public Health. 1981;71:694–705.
- Ala-Mursula L, Vahtera J, Pentti J et al. Effect of employee worktime control on health: a prospective cohort study. Occup Environ Med. 2004;61:254–61.
- Johnson JV, Hall EM. Job strain, work place, social support and cardiovascular disease. Am J Public Health 1988;78:1336–42.
- 21. Demerouti E, Bakker AB, Nachreiner F et al. "The job demands-resources model of burnout", J Appl Psychol. 2001;86:499–512.
- 22. Warr P. Work, Unemployment, and Mental Health, Clarendon Press: Oxford; 1987.
- 23. Warr PB. Decision latitude, job demands, and employee well-being, Work and Stress. 1990;4:285–94.
- 24. De Jonge J, Schaufeli WB. Job characteristics and employee well-being: a test of Warr's Vitamin Model in health care workers using structural equation modelling. J Organiz Behav. 1998;19:387–407.
- Kubicek B, Korunka C, Tement S. Too much job control? Two studies on curvilinear relations between job control and eldercare workers' well-being. Int J Nurs Stud. 2014 May 26. pii: S0020-7489(14)00130-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.05.005. [Epub ahead of print].
- Dupré KE, Barling J, LeBlanc MM. The many faces of control at work. In: Cooper CL ed. Handbook of Stress Medicine and Health. C. CRC Press, London: 2005. 375–397.
- Gangster DC. Improving measures of worker control in occupational stress research. In. Hurrel JJ jr, Murphy LR, Sauter SL eds. Occupational Stress: Issues and Development in Research. Philadelphia, PA: Taylor & Francis; 1988: 88–99.
- Kasl S. The influence of the work environment on cardiovascular health: a historical, conceptual and methodological perspective. J Occup Health Psych. 1996;1:42–56.
- Karasek R, Brisson C, Kawakami N, et al. The Job Content Questionnaire (JCQ): an instrument for internationally comparative assessments of psychosocial job characteristics. J Occup Health Psychol 1998;3:322–55.
- Niedhammer I. Psychometric properties of the French version of the Karasek Job Content Questionnaire: a study of the scales of decision latitude, psychological demands, social support, and physical demands in the GAZEL cohort. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2002;75:129–44.

- Niedhammer I, Chastang JF, Levy D, et al. Study of the validity of a job-exposure matrix for psychosocial work factors: results from the national French SUMER survey. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2008;82:87–97.
- Waldenström K, Härenstam A. Does the job demand-control model correspond to externally assessed demands and control for both women and men? Scand J Public Health 2008;36:242–249.
- Tennant C. Work-related stress and depressive disorders. J Psychosom Res. 2001;51:697– 704.
- Griffin JM, Fuhrer R, Stansfeld SA, et al. The importance of low control at work and home on depression and anxiety: do these effects vary by gender and social class? Soc Sci Med 2002;54:783–98.
- Niedhammer I, Goldberg M, Leclerc A et al. Psychosocial factors and subsequent depressive symptoms in the Gazel cohort. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health. 1998;24:197–205.
- Ylipaavalniemi J, Kivimaki M, Elovainio M et al. Psychosocial work characteristics and incidence of newly diagnosed depression: a prospective cohort study of three different models. Soc Sci Med. 2005; 61:111–22.
- Plaisier I, de Bruijn JG, de Graaf R et al. The contribution of working conditions and social support to the onset of depressive and anxiety disorders among male and female employees. Soc Sci Med. 2007;64:401–10.
- Virtanen M, Honkonen T, Kivimäki M et al. Work stress, mental health and antidepressant medication findings from the Health 2000 Study. J Affect Disord. 2007;98:189–97.
- 39. Bonde JP, Munch-Hansen T, Wieclaw J et al. Psychosocial work environment and antidepressant medication: a prospective cohort study. BMC Public Health. 2009;9:262.
- Wieclaw J, Agerbo E, Mortensen PB et al. Psychosocial working conditions and the risk of depression and anxiety disorders in the Danish workforce. BMC Public Health. 2008;8:280.
- 41. Waldenström K, Ahlberg G, Bergman P et al. Externally assessed psychosocial work characteristics and diagnoses of anxiety and depression. Occup Environ Med. 2008;65:90–6.
- 42. Kolstad HA, Hansen AM, Kærgaard A et al. Job strain and the risk of depression: is reporting biased? Am J Epidemiol. 2011;173:94–102.
- Kawakami N, Haratani T, Araki S. Effects of perceived job stress on depressive symptoms in blue-collar workers of an electrical factory in Japan. Scand J Work Environ Health. 1992;18:195–200.
- Clays E, De Bacquer D, Leynen F et al. Job stress and depression symptoms in middleaged workers –prospective results from the Belstress study. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2007;33:252–9.
- 45. Inoue A, Kawakami N, Haratani T et al. Job stressors and long-term sick leave due to depressive disorders among Japanese male employees: findings from the Japan Work Stress and Health Cohort study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2010;64:229–35.

- Laaksonen M, Lallukka T, Lahelma E et al. Working conditions and psychotropic medication: a prospective cohort study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2012;47:663–70.
- Grynderup MB, Mors O, Hansen ÅM et al. A two-year follow-up study of risk of depression according to work-unit measures of psychological demands and decision latitude. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2012;38:527–36.
- 48. Finne LB, Christensen JO, Knardahl S. Psychological and social work factors as predictors of mental distress: a prospective study. PLoS One. 2014;9:e102514.
- Theorell T, Hammarström A, Gustafsson PE et al. Job strain and depressive symptoms in men and women: a prospective study of the working population in Sweden. J Epidemiol Community Health 2014;68:78–82.
- De Bacquer D, Pelfrene E, Clays E, et al. Perceived job stress and incidence of coronary events: 3-year follow-up of the Belgian Job Stress Project cohort. Am J Epidemiol. 2005;161:434–41.
- Lee S, Colditz G, Berkman L, et al. A prospective study of job strain and coronary heart disease in US women. Int J Epidemiol. 2002;31:1147–53.
- Hlatky MA, Lam LC, Lee KL, et al. Job Strain and the Prevalence and Outcome of Coronary Artery Disease Circulation. 1995;92:327–333.
- László KD, Ahnve S, Hallqvist J, et al. Job strain predicts recurrent events after a first acute myocardial infarction: the Stockholm Heart Epidemiology Program. J Intern Med. 2010; 267: 599–611.
- 54. Aboa-Eboulé C, Brisson C, Maunsell E et al. Job strain and risk of acute recurrent coronary heart disease events. JAMA. 2007;298:1652–60.
- Padyab M, Blomstedt Y, Norberg M. No association found between cardiovascular mortality, and job demands and decision latitude: Experience from the Västerbotten Intervention Programme in Sweden. Soc Sci Med. 2014;117:58–66.
- Szerencsi K, van Amelsvoort L, Prins M et al. The prospective relationship between work stressors and cardiovascular disease, using a comprehensive work stressor measure for exposure assessment. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2014;87:155–64.
- 57. McEwen BS. Protective and damaging effects of stress mediators. N Engl J Med.1998;338: 171–9.
- 58. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, Appraisal and Coping. New York: Springer; 1984.
- 59. Thompson SC. Will it hurt less if I can control it? A complex answer to a simple question. Psychol Bull. 1981;90(1):89–101.
- 60. Mineka S, Hendersen RW. Controllability and predictability in acquired motivation. Annu Rev Psychol. 1985;36:495–529.
- Maier SF, Watkins LR. Stressor controllability and learned helplessness: the roles of the dorsal raphe nucleus, serotonin, and corticotropin-releasing factor. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2005;29:829–41.

- Salomons TV, Nusslock R, Detloff A, et al. Neural Emotion Regulation Circuitry Underlying Anxiolytic Effects of Perceived Control over Pain. J Cogn Neurosci. 2014; 11:1-12. doi:10.1162/jocn_a_00702. [Epub ahead of print].
- Kant GJ, Bauman RA, Anderson SM, et al. Effects of controllable vs. uncontrollable chronic stress on stress-responsive plasma hormones. Physiol Behav. 1992;51:1285–8.
- 64. Seligman ME. Learned helplessness. Annu Rev Med. 1972;23:407-12.
- 65. Abramson LY, Seligman ME, Teasdale JD. Learned helplessness in humans:critique and reformulation. J Abnorm Psychol. 1978;87:49–74.
- 66. Seeman M, Seeman TE. Health behavior and personal autonomy: a longitudinal study of the sense of control in illness. J Health Soc Behav. 1983;24:144–60.
- Thompson SC, Spacapan S. Perceptions of Control in Vulnerable Populations. J Soc Issues. 1991; 47(4):1–21.
- O'Donnell E, Landolt K, Hazi A, et al. An experimental study of the job demand-control model with measures of heart rate variability and salivary alpha-amylase: Evidence of increased stress responses to increased break autonomy. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2014;51C:24-34. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.09.017. [Epub ahead of print].
- 69. Snyder JS, Soumier A, Brewer M et al. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis buffers stress responses and depressive behaviour. Nature. 2011;476:458–61.
- 70. Tamashiro KL, Sakai RR, Shively CA et al. Chronic stress, metabolism, and metabolic syndrome. Stress. 2011;14:468–74.
- Carroll D, Smith GD, Shipley MJ et al. Blood pressure reactions to acute psychological stress and future blood pressure status: a 10-year follow-up of men in the Whitehall II study. Psychosom Med. 2001;63:737–43.
- 72. Strike PC, Magid K, Whitehead DL et al. Pathophysiological processes underlying emotional triggering of acute cardiac events. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103:4322–7.
- 73. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ounpuu S et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet. 2004;364:937–52.
- 74. Luppino FS, de Wit LM, Bouvy PF et al. Overweight, obesity, and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2010;67:220–229.
- Krantz DS, Kop WJ, Santiago HT et al. Mental stress as a trigger of myocardial ischemia and infarction. Cardiol Clin. 1996;14:271–87.
- Mostofsky E, Maclure M, Sherwood JB, et al. Risk of acute myocardial infarction after the death of a significant person in one's life: the Determinants of Myocardial Infarction Onset Study. Circulation. 2012;125:491–6.
- 77. Ruberman W, Weinblatt E, Goldberg JD et al. Psychosocial influences on mortality after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 1984;311:552–9.

- de Lange AH, Taris TW, Kompier MA et al. Different mechanisms to explain the reversed effects of mental health on work characteristics. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2005;31:3–14.
- 79. Podsakoff PM, MacKenzie SB, Lee JY, et al. Common method biases in behavioural research: a critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. J Appl Psychol. 2003;885:879–903.
- Hemmingsson T, Lundberg I. Is the association between low job control and coronary heart disease confounded by risk factors measured in childhood and adolescence among Swedish males 40–53 years of age? Int J Epidemiol. 2006;35:616–22.
- Alterman T, Shekelle RB, Vernon SW, et al. Decision latitude, psychological demand, job strain, and coronary heart disease in the Western Electric Study. Am J Epidemiol. 1994;139:620–27.
- Macleod J, Smith GD. Re: "Does job strain increase the risk for coronary heart disease or death in men and women? The Framingham offspring study". Am J Epidemiol. 2004;160:1031–2.
- 83. Kristensen TS. Job stress and cardiovascular disease: a theoretic critical review. J Occup Health Psychol. 1996;1:246–60.
- Kalimo R, Toppinen, S. Organizational well-being: ten years of research and development: in a forest industry corporation. In: Kompier M, Cooper C, eds. Preventing Stress, Improving Productivity: European Case Studies in the Workplace. London. Routledge; 1999:52–85.
- Väänänen A, Koskinen A, Joensuu M, et al. Lack of Predictability at Work and Risk of Acute Myocardial Infarction: An 18-Year Prospective Study of Industrial Employees. Am J Public Health. 2008;98: 2264–71.
- Tolonen H, Salomaa V, Torppa J, et al. The validation of the Finnish hospital Discharge register and causes of death register data on stroke diagnoses. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2007;14:380–85.
- Kivimäki M, Hamer M, Batty GD, et al. Antidepressant medication use, weight gain, and risk of type 2 diabetes: a population-based study. Diabetes Care 2010;33:2611–16.
- Fransson EI, Nyberg ST, Heikkilä K et al. Comparison of alternative versions of the job demand-control scales in 17 European cohort studies: the IPD-Work consortium. BMC Public Health. 2012;12:62.
- 89. Central Statistical Office of Finland. Causes of death 1987. In Health 1989. Helsinki: Statistics Finland; 1989.
- Elo A-L, Leppänen A, Lindström K, et al.. Occupational stress questionnaire: User's instructions. Helsinki, Finland: Finnish Institute of Occupational Health; 1992.
- Väänänen A, Pahkin K, Huuhtanen P. et al. Are intrinsic motivational factors of work associated with functional incapacity similarly regardless of the country? Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 2005;59:858–63.
- 92. Virtanen M, Pentti J, Vahtera J et al. Overcrowding in hospital wards as a predictor of antidepressant treatment among hospital staff. Am J Psychiatry 2008;165:1482–6.

- Sprivulis PC, Da Silva JA, Jacobs IG et al. The association between hospital overcrowding and mortality among patients admitted via Western Australian emergency departments. Med J Aust 2006;184:208–12.
- 94. WHO. International Classification of Diseases, ninth revision. World Health Organisation; Geneva: 1997.
- 95. WHO. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and related health problems tenth revision. World Health Organisation; Geneva: 2010.
- Goldberg M, Leclerc A, Bonenfant S. Cohort profile: the GAZEL Cohort Study. Int J Epidemiol. 2007;36:32–39.
- Tunstall-Pedoe H, Kuulasmaa K, Amouyel P et al. Myocardial infarction and coronary deaths in the World Health Organization MONICA Project. Registration procedures, event rates, and case-fatality rates in 38 populations from 21 countries in four continents. Circulation. 1994;90:583–612.
- Martikainen, J., Rajaniemi, S. Drug imbursement systems in EU Member States, Iceland and Norway. Social Security and Health Reports 54. Helsinki, Finland: The Social Insurance Institution of Finland; 2002.
- 99. Greenland S. An introduction to instrumental variables for epidemiologists. Int J Epidemiol 2000;29:722–24.
- Stock JH, Wright JH, Yogo M. A survey of weak instruments and weak identification in generalized method of moments. Journal of Business & Economic Statistics 2002;20:518–29.
- 101. Staiger D, Stock JH. Instrumental Variables Regression with Weak Instruments. Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society 1997;65:557–86.
- 102. Baum CF. An Introduction to Modern Econometrics Using Stata. College Station, TX: Stata Press, 2006.
- 103. SAS Institute Inc. 2010. SAS * 9.2 Language Reference: Concepts, Second Edition. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- 104. Boyles AL, Harris SF, Rooney AA, Thayer KA. Forest Plot Viewer: a new graphing tool. Epidemiology 2011;22:746–7.
- 105. Andersen I, Burr H, Kristensen TS et al. Do factors in the psychosocial work environment mediate the effect of socioeconomic position on the risk of myocardial infarction? Study from the Copenhagen Centre for Prospective Population Studies. Occup Environ Med 2004;61:886–92.
- McCarthy VJ, Perry IJ, Greiner BA. Job control and ambulatory blood pressure. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2014;40:457–64.
- 107. Salo P, Ala-Mursula L, Rod NH et al. Work time control and sleep disturbances: prospective cohort study of Finnish public sector employees. Sleep. 2014;37:1217–25.
- 108. Rugulies R. Invited commentary: Structure and context matters the need to emphasize "social" in "psychosocial epidemiology". Am J Epidemiol 2012;175:620–4.

- 109. Slopen N, Glynn RJ, Buring JE et al. Job strain, job insecurity, and incident cardiovascular disease in the Women's Health Study: Results from a 10-year prospective study. PLoS ONE. 2012.7:e40512.doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040512.
- 110. Kristensen TS, Borg V, Hannerz H. Socioeconomic status and psychosocial work environment: results from a Danish national study. Scand J Public Health 2002;30:41–48.
- 111. Kahn RL, Wolfe DM, Quinn, RP et al. Occupational stress: Studies in role conflict and ambiguity. New York: John Wiley; 1964.
- 112. Rugulies R, Aust B, Pejtersen JH. Do psychosocial work environment factors measured with scales from the Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire predict register-based sickness absence of 3 weeks or more in Denmark? Scand J Public Health. 2010;38:42–50S.
- Häusser JA, Mojzisch A, Schulz-Hardt S. Endocrinological and psychological responses to job stressors: An experimental test of the Job Demand–Control Model, Psychoneuroendocrinology; 2011;36:1021–31.
- 114. Cooper CL. The changing psychological contract at work. Occup Environ Med.2002;59:355.
- 115. Sennet R. The Corrosion of Character. The Personal Consequences Of Work In the New Capitalism. New York: Norton; 1998.
- 116. Virtanen M, Ferrie JE, Singh-Manoux A, et al. Overtime work and incident coronary heart disease: the Whitehall II prospective cohort study. Eur Heart J. 2010;31:1737–1744.
- 117. Manz CC. Self-leadership: toward an expanded theory of self-influence processes in organizations. Academy of Management Review 1986;11:585–600.
- 118. Eller NH, Netterstrøm B, Gyntelberg F et al. Work-related psychosocial factors and the development of ischemic heart disease: a systematic review. Cardiol Rev. 2009;17:83–97.
- 119. Elovainio M, Heponiemi T, Kuusio H. et al. Job demands and job strain as risk factorsfor employee wellbeing in elderly care: an instrumental-variables analysis. Eur J Public Health. 2014. pii: cku115. [Epub ahead of print].
- 120. Kessler RC, Olfson M, Berglund PA. Patterns and predictors of treatment contact after first onset of psychiatric disorders. Am J Psychiatry. 1998;155:62–9.
- 121. Wang PS, Angermeyer M, Borges G et al. Delay and failure in treatment seeking after first onset of mental disorders in the World Health Organization's World Mental Health Survey Initiative. World Psychiatry 2007;6:177–85.
- 122. Thielen K. Nygaard E. Andersen I et al. Misclassification and the use of register-based indicators for depression. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2009;119:312–9.
- 123. Rotter JB. Generalized expectancies for internal versus external control of reinforcement: Psychological Monographs: General & Applied. 1966;80:1–28.
- 124. Meier LL, Semmer NK, Elfering A et al. The double meaning of control: three-way interactions between internal resources, job control, and stressors at work. J Occup Health Psychol. 2008;13:244–58.

- 125. Feldt T, Mäkikangas A, Kinnunen, U. Onko esimiesten työsitoutuneisuus heidän terveytensä voimavara vai riskitekijä? Työ ja ihminen. 2003;17:292–303. [in Finnish].
- 126. Antonovsky A. Health, Stress and Coping. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers; 1979.
- Bandura A. Organizational Application of Social Cognitive Theory. Australian Journal of Management. 1998. 13, 275–302
- 128. Vartia MA. Consequences of workplace bullying with respect to the well-being of its targets and the observers of bullying. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2001;27:63–9.
- 129. Virtanen M, Kivimäki M, Joensuu M, et al. Temporary employment and health: A review. Int J Epidemiol. 2005;34:610–22.
- 130. Vahtera J, Kivimaki M, Pentti J. Effect of organisational downsizing on health of employees. Lancet. 1997;350:1124–28.

Job control has been a key concept in research on the psychosocial work environment and employee health for decades. A general hypothesis is that the more job control employees have, the lower their risk of stress-related diseases. However, the evidence to date has been inconclusive. The two components of job control, skill discretion and decision authority, may be differentially associated with health, which is a possible explanation for previous mixed findings. Therefore, this study examined the longitudinal associations of job control and its components separately, along with mental health and incident cardiovascular disease in large prospective cohorts with up to 20 years of follow-up. The analyses showed that skill discretion and decision authority had different, to some extent opposite and subgroup specific associations with mental and cardiovascular health. Furthermore, contrary to previous understanding, high decision authority was found in some circumstances to associate with an increased risk of mental disorders and cardiovascular mortality. Job control appears to be an equivocal concept in terms of health risk.

Orders: Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Arinatie 3 FI-00370 Helsinki Finland

E-mail kirjakauppa@ttl.fi

ISBN 978-952-261-495-7 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-261-496-4 (PDF)

ISSN-L 1237-6183 ISSN 1237-6183

Cover picture: Ugmedia

